

# **Walden University ScholarWorks**

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2022

# Stakeholder Success Measures of a Safe Parking Pilot Program for Individuals Sheltering in Vehicles

Obiageri Constance Aginam Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations



Part of the Medicine and Health Sciences Commons, and the Public Policy Commons

# Walden University

College of Social and Behavioral Sciences

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Obiageri Constance Aginam

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

# **Review Committee**

Dr. Mark Gordon, Committee Chairperson, Public Policy and Administration Faculty Dr. Linda Sundstrom, Committee Member, Public Policy and Administration Faculty Dr. Michael Brewer, University Reviewer, Public Policy and Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2022

#### **Abstract**

Stakeholder Success Measures of a Safe Parking Pilot Program for Individuals Sheltering in Vehicles

by

Obiageri C. Aginam

MPA, California State University, East Bay at Hayward, 2001 BS, San Jose State University at San Jose, California,1990

Professional Administrative Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Public Administration

Walden University

November 2022

#### Abstract

The Safe Parking Pilot Program was a crisis response to the recent increase in vehicular homelessness in a Northern Californian city. The city identified issues of unsheltered individuals due to the increase housing cost and unaffordable housing. The city partnered with faith-based organizations to provide safe locations for individuals sheltering in vehicles. The current research aimed to evaluate benchmarks and metrics to measure the safe parking pilot program. The purpose of the study was to help the city leaders and the key stakeholders identify measures of success and how they might improve the program in one Northern Californian city. Semistructured interview data from the 12 key respondent stakeholders were collected and analyzed using qualitative method. The data were coded and managed using NVivo software. Participants included program leaders, program coordinators at the city, and police officers that provided security for the program. Data indicated that each stakeholder had unstated metrics to measure the program's success. The common theme found among the stakeholders was the lack of formal benchmarks to measure success. Program utilization, growth of volunteers, and ability to move unhoused vehicle dwellers to temporary and permanent housing were among the themes developed from the data. The safe parking program should develop benchmarks for rehousing rates, lengths of stay, and service engagement with all stakeholders. The engagement of internal and external stakeholders allows positive social change through clear indicators of success for multiple stakeholders.

# Stakeholder Success Measures of a Safe Parking Pilot Program for Individuals Sheltering in Vehicles

by

Obiageri C. Aginam

MPA, California State University, East Bay at Hayward, 2001 BS, San Jose State University at San Jose, California,1990

Professional Administrative Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Public Administration

Walden University

November 2022

# Dedication

I dedicated this work to my husband, children, brothers, other family members and friends who provided support, encouragement, and unconditional love throughout this journey. I appreciate you all greatly. I could not have made it this far without your continued support.

# Acknowledgements

I thank my husband for his continued support and encouragement. He helped to keep me focused. Your edits, insights and critiques were immensely valuable throughout this journey. I will forever remain grateful. I also thank my late senior brother, who have paved way for me to be where I am today. I will never forget you.

I would also thank my mentors, Dr. Mark Gordon, Dr. Linda Sundstrom, for your support, guidance, encouragement, and wisdom. I could not ask for a better team to work with on this doctoral journey. A special thanks to Dr. Mark Gordon, my Committee Chair, for your prompt response to my texts and emails and for providing recommendations. Your knowledge, patience and advice have been crucial to completing this doctoral journey.

# Table of Contents

Section 1: Introduction to the Problem	1
Background of Client Organization	2
Background of the Problem	6
Problem Statement	7
Purpose of the Study	9
Research Question	9
Nature of the Administrative Study	10
Significance of the Study	11
Summary	12
Section 2: Conceptual Approach and Background	13
Concept Framework	14
Key Terms	15
Relevance to Public Organizations	16
Organization Background and Context	18
Role of the DPA Researcher	20
Summary	21
Section 3: Data Collection Process and Analysis	23
Research Questions	23
Sources of Evidence	24
Participants	25
Data Control Procedures	26

Data Analysis	27
Data Protection.	28
Incentives	28
Consent Process Agreement	29
Semistructured Interview Privacy	29
Semistructured Interviews	30
Summary	33
Section 4: Data Evaluation and Recommendation.	34
Emergent Themes	36
Findings and Implications	36
Interpretation of Findings	41
Limitations	42
Implications Resulting from the Findings.	43
Recommendations	45
Summary	46
Section 5: Dissemination Plan	48
Conclusion	49
References	51
Appendix: Initial Semistructured Interview Questions	61

#### Section 1: Introduction to the Problem

As affordable housing vanishes, many cities have faced increasing homelessness. Our County, was one of the counties that saw a substantial increase in the number of people experiencing homelessness between 2017 and 2019, driven by an increase in the number of unsheltered people. Zeitlin (2019) indicated that high rents lost, limited housing supply, and cumbersome temporary shelter processes contribute to the growing population of homeless in individuals and families. McElwain et al., (2021) added that nearly three dozen communities struggling to assist their unsheltered and sheltered homeless populations developed safe parking programs. The safe parking programs aimed to meet the needs of people living in their vehicles recognize that safety and basic physiological needs are the foundation of psychological stability. These programs offered secure places for people sheltering in vehicles to park and sleep in their vehicles overnight while using a range of social services to facilitate rapid transition to permanent housing (McElwain et al., 2021). McElwain et. al. (2021) cited that Santa Barbara's New Beginnings Counselling Center (SBNBCC), was one of many other successful programs created in 2004 in response to the vehicular homelessness crisis. Information in the city's websites indicated that the city adopted a safe parking program as one of its many programs to help address homelessness. The program was designed as a safe transitional space for individuals living in vehicles to stay while transitioning to permanent housing. The program also provided people living in vehicles a chance to meet their basic psychological needs (Kenrick et al., 2010).

According to PPIC Statewide Survey (2020), pandemic-related shutdowns and rising housing costs worsened California's homelessness crisis. Deaths among people without homes continue to rise, college students living in their cars, and encampment communities continue to grow in the state. The survey showed there was agreement across partisan groups that homelessness was a big problem in California (67% of Democrats, 64% of Republicans, and 68% of Independents). However, when cities set up programs like a safe parking pilot program to address homelessness, some people developed a "not in my backyard" (NIMBY) attitude (Gibson, 200). The city addressed vehicle dwellers' homelessness through the Safe Parking Pilot Program.

# **Background of Client Organization**

The client organization was a city in northern California. The city continues to enjoy a growing population. The city is home to various innovative companies, including over 1,700 high-tech, life science, and clean technology firms and over 3,600 small businesses. It is located at the heart of Silicon Valley, making it the ideal place for people to live and work.

Information from city records showed that the city is one of the most culturally diverse cities in the Bay Area, with 49% of residents being born outside the United States and 63.2% speaking a language other than English at home. Many of its residents are highly educated, with high-paying jobs in various business sectors. According to city websites, WalletHub ranked the city as the second-best city to raise a family in America in 2021. Unfortunately, economic issues like financial setbacks such as job loss, increase in rent, or illness can lead to a loss of housing and homelessness. The rising cost of living

and stagnant wages have also contributed to housing inability in California and increased unsheltered adults and families relying on their vehicles as a place to live and sleep (McElwain et al., 2021).

On June 15, 2021, City Council adopted an ordinance to allow safe parking at community-based host sites such as religious facilities and nonprofit organizations. The safe parking program was developed to serve single adults and couples seeking safety and consistency, seniors who cannot afford rent, working adults who are forced into homelessness due to lost employment, and women fleeing domestic violence. The safe parking program is a helpful resource for the homeless services network, from law enforcement outreach to case management engagement. It provides a foundational community to meet parkers' basic needs. The program was not intended to be a permanent solution for those experiencing homelessness; rather, a safe parking program intended to offer stability so that the program participants can work towards finding reliable and safe permanent housing. The city had three safe parking programs to provide designated secure parking areas for unhoused individuals living in their vehicle: a private host site program, a sanctioned parking program, and a city-operated safe parking site program. Each host site received a permit through the Community Development Agency, demonstrating that they meet development and operational standards.

According to internal records and website information, safe parking program was a collaborative effort between the city, community partners, and various faith-based organizations. The organizations agreed to host the program participants in their respective parking lots on a rotational basis. The rotational aspect of the program means

that the organizations, volunteers, and participants will be at different host sites every month. Their internal records shows that host sites' permits are valid for 1 year from the time they are granted. However, a site does not have to host for 12 months and can determine how often it can host vehicles. The city Human Service Department's job is to connect with other organizations that may be interested in becoming safe parking host sites or supporting the program through donations. For example, a vehicle repair fund can support those living in their vehicles, which may assist with obtaining critical licensing and registration documents or performing essential car maintenance.

City records showed that the private host site program was modeled by a faith-based temporary shelters permit process that City Council adopted in 2018. According to safe parking program city manager, the city developed a partnership with faith-based organizations to allow a limited number of operable vehicles to park within these organization's existing parking lots. The host program allowed faith-based sites to provide safe parking sites for vehicle dwellers to stay and transition to a permanent house. Internal records indicated that a sanctioned parking program temporarily designated existing areas as "sanctioned safe parking areas." This could be re-striping existing on-street parking spaces within industrial or commercial areas and designing some parking spaces within city parks or other lands as determined to be appropriate by the City Council. The city records showed that a sanctioned parking program provided service to individuals where they currently parked to allow them to transition into permanent housing. At the same time, a city-operated safe parking site program provided comprehensive wraparound services to individuals in a site managed by the city. The site

was designed to provide basic facilities and wraparound services to all participants to transition to permanent housing. The program open 24/7 to allow participants to focus on job finding and other assistance to help them get on their feet.

City referral sources for the safe parking program's participants were Supportive Service Agency in the city such as city police, human services agency, case managers, and host sites operators. The program manager explained that people who get priority referrals includes people 62 years and older, or in a family unit, people employed or enrolled in school within the city, families with minor children, and adults 18 + (single or coupled up). The participants must be affiliated with the city, have previous house ownership, employment or school enrollment, family ties, physical or mental health services, and individuals enrolled in a support services program.

Information in the city websites described the requirements for operators and participants in the safe parking program. The standard operation time for the safe parking program was 10 hours a day. Only operatable vehicles, recreational vehicles (RVs), and vans with a permit from the site operator may park at the site. No more than 20 inhabitant vehicles can park on a single site. Participants are expected to sign expectations and participants' agreement, outlining adhering, and committing to a plan of transition from the safe parking program into stable housing. The participants sign a liability waiver that releases the host site and city of damages to the participant or their property and a statement of responsibilities and rules that defines rules and the process for violations and appeals. The City screening for participants includes a valid CA driver's license, current insurance, and registration (a 45-day grace period may be granted on a case-by-case

basis). The vehicles must be able to drive on and off-site daily, be owner-occupied and have a sex registry search and confirmation from the local police department.

# **Background of the Problem**

According to January 30, 2019, Alameda County Point in Time Count, the city homelessness jumped by 27% from 479 in 2017 to 608 in 2019. The city ranked third highest in the County in the number of homeless people. Fifty percent of the city's unsheltered homeless population were vehicular dwellers, Alameda County Point in Time Count (January 30, 2019). The unsheltered population experienced a 266% increase between 2017 and 2019. For these people, their vehicles become their homes. Unfortunately, they faced many obstacles to finding a safe and legal place to park overnight. They faced the risk of parking citations, break-ins, and unsanitary living conditions (Alameda County, 2019).

In 2018, the city council approved several strategies to confront homelessness, especially vehicular homelessness. According to city records, the safe parking program was one of the programs launched on January 31, 2022, to provide a safe transitional space for residents experiencing vehicular homelessness to park overnight. The Safe parking program provides safe and secure places for vehicle dwellers to park and sleep. It also reduces the number of people living illegally in a vehicle on city streets, decreases enforcement actions and resulting legal costs to homeless individuals, and provides resources to secure permanent housing and economic stability.

The pilot program had the capacity for 15 passenger vehicles. The participants must work with social providers to support their search for stable housing. Only

individuals 18 years and above were permitted to enroll in the program. The participants signed agreement forms outlining program rules. The gap in the program at this time is stakeholders' inability to define how success will be measured.

#### **Problem Statement**

The problem for the city leadership was a lack of clear and shared understanding of indicators of success in the safe parking pilot program. The leaders and critical actors in the Safe Parking pilot program were unclear on precise definition of success. While programs like the Housing Navigation Center (HNC), which started in 2020, have helped the city address homelessness, the city's vehicle dwellers population continues to grow. Affordable housing was vanishing in the county due to the increased population and lack of employment. The affordable housing crisis exacerbated the homelessness crisis in California. Many people who could no longer afford or find stable housing were forced to spend their nights sleeping in vehicles. That drove the number of the unsheltered homeless population up. In January of 2021, about 50% of the unsheltered homeless population in the city were living in their vehicle- an increase of 266% between 2017 and 2019 (Alameda Point in Count, 2021). The rapid increase in rental housing costs has forced many low-income wage earners out of the housing market. One in five of the nation's students who identified as experiencing homelessness was estimated to reside in California (Burns et al., 2021).

The January 2018 survey conducted by Alameda County across the cities within the county showed that 73% of respondents in the cities believed that homelessness was increasing due to rising costs and decreased availability of jobs, and a disappearing safety

net. The result showed that cities were less likely to invest their funds in transitional and permanent supportive housing. The survey indicated no consistent structure for guiding homelessness work. The survey also found that the homelessness problems in the Bay Area were unique. The best practices found in cities outside the Bay Area may not be practical in the cities across the Bay Area because of practical challenges like lack of available land for development and infrastructure challenges. Research from National Law Center on Homelessness and Poverty (NLCHP, 2019) indicated that 30%-50% of unhoused individuals in West Coast cities now utilize their vehicles as primary source of shelter. This has led to increased numbers of communities turning towards criminalizing overnight parking to solve the issue (NLCHP, 2019; Mitchell, 1997). Lee et al. (2010) added that contributions to sociologists and social scientists since the mids-1990s differentiate among the types of homelessness, provide demographic estimates, show how being homelessness affects person's life chances and coping strategies. The city started the safe parking pilot program to address these problems. It sought a clear and shared understanding of indicators of success among the leaders and critical actors in the program.

The benchmarks for measuring success in the safe parking pilot program do not exist. In this professional administrative study, I assisted the city in identifying key benchmarks that would help the stakeholders define a successful, safe parking program. I hoped my work would assist the city and would provide more information in advancing knowledge in a safe parking program to tackle growing vehicular homelessness in Bay Area communities.

# **Purpose of the Study**

In this professional administrative study, I explored and examined the attitudes of operators of the city's safe parking pilot program to identify smart practices to measure short- and long-term success in the program in other to provide policy recommendations to the city. This study was designed to provide understanding of how a safe parking pilot program can provide a safe parking environment and supportive services to homeless communities that live in their vehicles without causing negative issues to the host community in the city. I explored the attitude of stakeholders on what they consider a successful, safe parking program. Since this was a new program with limited benchmarks for measuring success, I collected data, interviewed stakeholders to explore their definition of success and present recommendations to the policyholders.

The academic literature on safe parking programs was limited (McElwain et al., 2021). Therefore, to understand the context of safe parking programs in this study, I concentrated on more general homelessness services and the features that overlapped with safe parking programs. The benchmarks from other homeless supportive services guided my work as I collected data and interviewed participants. In this study, I reviewed the literature available on safe parking programs and studied safe parking programs offered by other cities to identify best practices that impact outcomes.

#### **Research Question**

This study intended to answer the following closely related research questions to understand the attitudes of stakeholders on the safe parking program in the city:

- RQ1. What were the benchmarks and metrics for measuring the short- and long-term success of a safe parking program for stakeholders?
  - RQ2. What would be the ideal population for a safe parking program?
  - RQ3. How can a safe parking program mitigate negative issues for the neighboring community while providing essential services to vehicle dwellers?

Answers to these questions guided the city and critical stakeholders in setting the right safe parking programs for vehicle dwellers. The findings of this study could help the managers, coordinators and police officials work collaboratively with critical stakeholders in providing supportive services to unhoused vehicle dwellers as they transition to permanent housing.

# **Nature of the Administrative Study**

In this qualitative study, I conducted a semi-structured interview with the stakeholders, the program coordinators, and police officers to identify innovative practices that would produce the best outcome for the stakeholders. In addition to structural interviews, I examined data available on safe parking programs in the city and other neighboring cities in the county to identify smart practices within their programs. I analyzed the data to determine the program model that impacts outcomes and leads to smart practices, and the funding sources and program stability that can impact program longevity and service level (McElwain et al., 2021). I also examined their eligibility requirements because it could impact the community input and may limit program limitations on an individual level. Using semi-structured interview questions, I

interviewed stakeholders of the programs and organized their answers to find common themes that impacted the program input and output. The stakeholders include a faith-based organization operating the safe parking program, the police officers enforcing the laws, program managers, and policymakers coordinating the program for the city.

I sought literature to review using keywords on homelessness and safe parking programs coordinated in other cities to identify best practices in their programs. Most of the interviews were conducted face to face, using a protective face mask. Some were conducted using phone calls when a face-to-face meeting was not appropriate. The stakeholders' perspectives aided in building and understanding the input and output results of the safe parking program. The information gathered was analyzed to determine what had worked for other cities and what to avoid in order to make the programs successful. The result of the information was summarized and presented to city officials in executive summary format.

# **Significance of the Study**

This study was aimed at providing the city with objective recommendations on the benchmarks for measuring the success of the safe parking program. The study provided stakeholders with the best practices in a safe parking program to help them improve the program objectives. The study provided stakeholders with a better understanding on their attitudes on how a safe parking program could help mitigate any negative issues for the neighboring community while providing essential services to vehicle dwellers.

This professional study provided stakeholders with practical tools to manage homelessness while helping vehicle dwellers transition into permanent housing. This study helped present a positive change to vehicle dwellers and the community. It also contributed to public administration on homelessness management.

# **Summary**

In Section 1, I identified the problem faced by the city in implementing its safe parking pilot program. The city also lacked understanding of how to measure the success in addressing the crisis created by its unsheltered individuals living in their vehicles as they transition into permanent housing. The city also needed to know how to prevent lawlessness in the communities where unsheltered vehicle dwellers reside. I also outlined the purpose of this study to the city and how the study helped them and other cities experiencing homelessness find benchmarks and metrics for measuring success in the program. I also identified the nature and significance of my administrative study to the field of homelessness about safe parking programs and the potential for broad application of the study to the field of homelessness.

In Section 2, I discuss the works of literature relevant to the safe parking program as it applied to the challenges facing the city in implementing its Safe Parking Program. I also delineate my roles and responsibilities through the conduct of this study.

# Section 2: Conceptual Approach and Background

In this section, I examine conceptual models and frameworks within existing research on which I framed the study. I discuss the target organization's background and my role as the researcher in addressing the city's administrative issue in their quest to contain homelessness in the city. The city established a safe parking pilot program to reduce the city's vehicle homelessness crisis. However, there was a lack of clear understanding of the indicators of success in the safe parking program. In this study, I explored and examined the safe parking program in the city to identify smart practices and provided policymakers with recommendations on how success can be determined. The study was also designed to show how the program can provide a safe parking environment and supportive services to homeless vehicular dwellers without causing negative issues to the host community. In keeping with these facts, I interviewed stakeholders of the program and collected and analyzed data on the safe parking program and answered the following questions:

- RQ1. What were the benchmarks and metrics for measuring success in the program?
- RQ2. What was the ideal population for safe parking program?
- RQ3. How can the program mitigate any negative issues while providing essential services to vehicle dwellers?

The information and data collected from the structural interviews was analyzed, and a recommendation presented to the city in an executive summary.

#### **Concept Framework**

There was limited academic and localized literature on safe parking programs. To understand the concept of the safe parking program, I focused on general homeless services and the features that overlap with the safe parking program (McElwain et al., 2021). That allowed me to use the benchmarks from other homeless supportive services to address my study.

The conceptual frameworks that support this study include stakeholder theory, which was initially developed by Freeman (1984) and gained importance through the works of Clarkson (1994, 1995), Donaldson and Preston (1995), and Mitchell et al. (1992). Mitchell et al. (1992) suggested that organizations should heed the needs, interests, and influence of those affected by their policies. The interest, needs, and the influence of the faith-based organization that runs the program, the city police force that enforce the law, the community where the vehicles dwellers was housed, and the needs and interest of vehicle dwellers who they were trying to serve must be considered when making a strategic decision such as a safe parking program.

The needs and interests of individuals living in their vehicles differ from habitually homeless individuals living outdoors (Wakin, 2005). Vehicle dwellers face unique social and economic challenges different from chronically homeless individuals living outdoors (McElwain et al., 2021). People sheltering in their vehicles may maintain work and community ties not afforded to those living on the street by maintaining access to minimal shelter. Therefore, protecting them from citations, towing, and impoundment

fees that increase instability and threaten their community ties is necessary so that they may get help transitioning to permanent housing (Mitchell, 1997).

Faith-based organizations and other nonprofit organizations run safe parking programs to provide a space and basic hygiene amenities for vehicle dwellers to park overnight without the risk of citation. Organizations that operate the program secured designated safe parking lots and spaces where they connect participants to social services to help them get back on their feet. The organizations that provide safe parking for vehicle dwellers help them achieve stability and focus their attention on more advanced needs (Kenrick et al., 2010). The safe parking lots allowed individuals living in their vehicles a whole night of sleep and a sense of stability to engage in their next goal. By maintaining access to minimal shelter, individuals sheltering in their vehicles may maintain work and community ties not afforded to individuals living on the street. However, the criminalization of vehicle dwellings exposes people to citation, towing, or impounding fees that increase instability and threaten those ties (Mitchell, 1997). According to McElwain et al. (2021), the safe parking program maintained by Alameda County in 2020 assisted roughly 50 persons and has an average rehousing rate above 50%.

The city proposed three safe parking programs: a private host site, sanctioned parking, and a city-operated safe parking site program.

#### **Key Terms**

The *stakeholders* were interest groups that possessed the power to influence the city's decisions. These included the faith-based organizations whose needs, interests, and

influence the city must pay attention to. Clients were vehicle dwellers afflicted with homelessness. These stakeholders play important roles as advocates, sponsors, partners, and agents of change (Ipsos MORI, 2009). The city must pay attention to their needs and interests as well. The city must also pay attention to the needs of host communities whose properties and living standards are affected by safe parking programs.

Private host sites were safe parking lots operated by faith-based organizations. Sanctioned Parking Lots were private locations where individuals currently park their cars. Private individuals receive a permit from City to park their car within regulated times. The city's operated parking sites were sites owned by the city. The umbrella organization model was a safe parking program managed by a parent organization that contracts the services to an independent body. Parent organizations screen the client and assign them to best match lot and service providers. The composite program model was made of a hybrid of an umbrella model and independent model. They feature multiple safe parking locations with shared service locations. Independent Operator Models were safe parking programs operated by an independent organizations like faith-based organizations or other agencies.

#### **Relevance to Public Organizations**

Homelessness continues to be a challenging issue for cities in California. In 2018, California Senate Bill 850 established the Homeless Emergency Aid Program (HEAP), which allocated \$500 million in one-time block grants to assist localities across California in improving their response to the homeless crisis (McElwain et al., 2021). HEAP was designed to provide flexibility in managing homeless crisis in the city. It

allowed cities to be creative in expanding and experimenting with new services. The city took advantage of HEAP and partnered with Bay Area Community Services (BACS) to operate a drop-in wellness center to provide services to homeless people. The city also established a mobile evaluation team to provide services to homeless people with mental health issues. In addition to the above, the city also allocated resources for the bi-weekly cleanup of homeless encampments and secure rooms at a former motel for temporary shelter. Internal Records showed that the city started a temporary Housing Navigation Center for homeless adults. Despite all these, the city saw the number of individuals living in their vehicles increase by 266% between 2017 and 2019. The number of people residing in RVs shot up by 450%, while the number of people living in their cars or vans increased by 144% within the same period.

Like many urban counties, the county shares many characteristics that contributed to the increase in homelessness. The county faced rising rent costs, increasing shortfalls in affordable housing, and a declining safety net for people facing hard times. According to Alameda County Homeless Count and Survey Report, the 2017 homeless census and survey showed that 39% of people were experiencing homelessness for the first time, and nearly 60% have experienced homelessness for at least a year. The county's homelessness rate was higher than the State of California cities (30 per 10,000 residents).

The county passed A1 Housing Bond to raise money to tackle homelessness. The bond was raising \$580 million for housing aid, and \$425 million is going to housing for low-income and vulnerable populations (Alameda County Community Development Agency, 2016). A survey of a community-based organization conducted by Alameda

County in 2018 indicated that such organizations could serve more people experiencing homelessness. However, they needed more funding from the government. Alameda County budgeted over \$63 million in homelessness assistance in 2016-2017. About 44% of the money went to permanent supportive housing, while only 21% went to transitional housing and rapid rehousing.

Although there was extensive literature on homelessness, the literature review on safe parking programs was limited. Existing research on safe parking programs consists of several reports on practices, program models, and outcomes (McElwain et al., 2021). How communities perceive homelessness as a problem often influences possible policy options and can push for enforcement over support services (NLCHP, 2019). Those who have advocated for homeless people have emphasized treating them with empathy and dignity (Gawthrop, 2005, p. 246). Those who favored supportive service interventions fell short of ideas often due to fragmented networks and limited resources (NLCHP, 2019). Flower et al. (2019) promoted a complex system approach to consider prevention, rapid rehousing, and permanent supportive housing. However, rising living costs and stagnant wages increase housing instability, which pushes the population of unsheltered adults and families in the Bay Area. To bring down the population of unsheltered vehicle dwellers, the city started a safe parking pilot program in 2022 ( City Websites).

#### **Organization Background and Context**

As the fourth largest city in the San Francisco Bay Area with an increasing housing affordability index, its unsheltered population experienced a 266% increase between 2017 and 2019 (Alameda County Point in Time Count January 31, 2019.) About

238 individuals lived in an RV or passenger car in 2018, a 450% increase from 2017 to 2019. The number of people living in cars or vans increased by 144% within the same period. The major factor driving this increase at the time was a rapid increase in rental housing costs, forcing many low-income wage earners out of the housing market. A survey conducted by city staff found that approximately 70% of those living in a vehicle in the city also had a permanent home before becoming homeless.

At the direction of City Counsel, on April 17, 2018, city developed strategies for addressing the homelessness problem. These strategies included but were not limited to Housing Navigator Center (HNC), Islander Temporary Shelter (ITS), and Clean Start Mobile Hygiene Unit Program (CSHUP). HNC provided an average of six months of housing, basic needs, outreach services, health and wellness services, and intensive case management to homeless individuals. ITS was a 70-unit motel the city converted into a 128-unit affordable housing development to provide temporary shelter for unhoused individuals. Clean Start Mobile Hygiene Unit Program was a 51-foot truck and trailer fitted with two full bathrooms with showers, washers, and dryers to provide services to unhoused communities.

The severity of California's homelessness crisis led to varied of policy at the state level to address the need of state's homeless individuals. In 2019, California Assembly Bill 891passed the Assembly and State Senate to require cities with populations over 330,000 to develop safe parking programs and utilize public property for programs where possible (Bill Text – AB-891, 2019). McElwain et al. (2021) added that Governor Newsom vetoed the bill, but it brought attention to relatively new safe parking service

model. Despite all these efforts, the city population of vehicular homelessness continues to grow. The city started three safe parking pilot programs to address vehicular homelessness: Private Host Site, Sanctioned Parking in Place, and City Operated Safe Parking Site. The safe parking program was designed to provide people living in their vehicles with a designated secure place to park and have access to health and safety amenities.

However, there were few benchmarks for measuring a successful, safe parking program. The city lacked a clear understanding of measuring success in the program. This study explored stakeholders' attitudes to determine what constitutes a successful, safe parking program and how the program could mitigate any negative issues in the neighboring communities while providing essential services to vehicle dwellers.

#### Role of the DPA Researcher

In a qualitative study, the researcher plays significant role in data collection which allow themes and findings to emerge through careful analysis (Barrett & Twycross, 2009). My goal is to evaluate the city's safe parking pilot program by analyzing data obtained through interviews and internal records. As a resident of the of the city since 1997, I watched the city population, and the homeless population grew. I have no relationship with the employees at the city or any of the stakeholders. However, having lived in the city for over 20 years, I was familiar with issues of homelessness but not that of unsheltered vehicle dwellers. My motivation for the study of homelessness came from a demonstration in 2019 when some people demonstrated against a homeless camp the city was trying to establish close to the primary school. Since then, I have wondered how

the city solved the problem. My motivation was to provide the city an outside perspective in evaluating the attitude of stakeholders in what constitutes a successful, safe parking pilot program. The result of the research could help the city evaluate its safe parking program.

I conducted an in-depth analysis of the safe parking program practiced by other cities and compared their programs with that of the city's program and provided smart practices to the city. The fact that I live in the city where the study took place could pose a potential bias, but I tackled this by focusing on the attitude of the stakeholders that work on the program, not on the city itself, as I am a resident of the city. I also inform the readers the biases, assumptions, and my qualification as a researcher. The only possible ethical issue was the privacy of interview participants. I minimized the issue by using nonpersonal identification to identify all the participants.

# Summary

In Section 2, I discussed the literature that contributed to the field of homelessness and would be contributing to my conceptual framework for the Safe Parking Program. I used smart practices found in other homelessness programs to guide my study in safe parking program. I also pointed out that city did not clearly define what success would look like in the safe parking pilot program. Literature on safe parking programs did not adequately address the benchmarks for measuring success in the program. In Section 3, I identify data collection methods and analysis I used to address the research questions. I also addressed the source of evidence and the participants in the study. I then recommended ways to measure success of safe parking program.

#### Section 3: Data Collection Process and Analysis

The city's lack of clear understanding of the benchmarks for measuring success in their safe parking program was the motivating factor for this study. The purpose of the study was to explore the attitude of stakeholders toward what they consider a successful, safe parking program and to provide recommendation to the city. In this study, I explored how the city can offer a safe parking environment and supportive services to homeless communities that live in their vehicles without causing negative issues to the host communities. The study analyzed the existing safe parking program data maintained by the city and reviewed other homeless programs to provide recommendations to the city's policymakers. This section addresses the alignment between the research question and the methodology. I also identify the sources of the evidence and describe the study's research methods.

# **Research Questions**

The introduction of a safe parking pilot program created a unique problem for the city. They lacked a clear understanding of the benchmarks for measuring success in the safe parking program. This study explored the stakeholders' attitude toward what is considered a successful, safe parking program and provide policy recommendations to policymakers in the city. Due to minimal literature on benchmarks for measuring success in the program, I reviewed the city's safe parking program and other broader homeless services to provide context on how the safe parking program can successfully support vehicle dwellers towards stable housing.

Therefore, to understand the context of the safe parking program, this study concentrated on more general homelessness services and their features that overlapped with the safe parking program. Using the data collected, I answered the study's following practice-focused questions:

- 1. What were the benchmarks and metrics for measuring the success of a safe parking program for the stakeholders?
- 2. How can safe parking mitigate any negative issues for the neighboring community while providing essential services to vehicle dwellers
- 3. What would be the ideal population for a safe parking program?

#### **Sources of Evidence**

This qualitative study was designed to explore the experience of stakeholders of a city in Northern California. I used public and internal data from the County and city to identify homeless demographic changes over time and how that had contributed to implementation a safe parking program. I used the city's internal data to identify the types of safe parking programs the city runs and the stakeholders in the programs. I used county and city Point in Time counts and statistics to identify changes in vehicular homelessness in the city. The participants were the stakeholders in the program: the program managers, host sites coordinators, and city police officers that enforced rules and regulations for the program. The participants were identified and interviewed to determine their attitudes on what would constitute a successful program. Using internal city information, I identified the safe parking programs and contacted the program leaders to participate in a semistructured interview. Semistructured interview was

designed to ask more open-ended questions to identify familiar terms on what stakeholders consider a successful program and to find the benchmarks and metrics for measuring the program's success. Stakeholders were interviewed to determine how a safe parking program can mitigate any negative issues for the community while providing essential services to vehicle dwellers. The interview determined the relationship between the evidence and the purpose of the study.

The relationship surrounding each source and the purpose of this study assisted in understanding the benchmarks the city can use to understand what constitutes a successful, safe parking program. I used the safe parking logic model developed by McElwain et al. (2021) to show the connection between program design and activities about expected returns. For example, funding sources can impact program longevity and services level. Rules and eligibility requests could be impacted by community input but may limit utilization and program impact on the individual.

# **Participants**

Collecting data through interviews with participants is a characteristic of many qualitative studies (Barrett & Twycross, 2018). I identified 16 participants through city records for the study. Twelve participants agreed to be interviewed and four opted out. I interviewed five program coordinators from faith-based organizations and five program managers from the city. According to Walden University, when conducting a study, having a diverse group of participants brings value and validity to research work. The participants for this study came from diverse and professional background. They included program managers, program coordinators, and police officers that enforced, and

maintained rules and regulations at the program sites. The city leaders managing the program were identified and interviewed. The city has four faith-based operators that provide their site with a safe parking program. I interviewed the leaders of these operators and social service providers that provided support services to vehicle dwellers. I also interviewed two city police officials that monitor the program. These people were identified and interviewed to determine what they consider a successful program. Since the population of program managers was small, their names were obtained through records provided by the city. The city safe parking pilot program was designed to help vehicle dwellers transition to stable housing. Participants were contacted using program management records and city records for a short interview. The interview was conducted using face-to-face meetings and telephone, depending on the availability of participants. A protective mask was used during face-to-face interviews. The interview lasted for 30 to 60 minutes. A follow-up interview was needed to narrow down the answers. Because of the few safe parking pilot programs, the city has, I was not expecting a large sample size.

#### **Data Control Procedures**

I conducted one-on-one interviews using semistructured questions (see Appendix) with participants to explore their attitudes towards the critical research questions. Semi-structured questions allowed me to ask open ended questions to the participants. In addition, I used semistructured interview questions to interview city leaders, program managers, coordinators, and law enforcement officers.

Interview questions were open-ended to allow participants to explore their thoughts, feelings, beliefs, and attitudes regarding what they consider metrics needed to

measure success in the program. The interview was recorded with the permission of every participant. All data were stored in a password-protected folder on my personal computer and would be destroyed after completion of the program. I kept notes to allow a follow-up question. I asked the participants' permission for a follow-up interview to clarify information until themes developed. Every participant's interview lasted 30 to 60 minutes. City leaders' interviews lasted more than 30 minutes. I followed on one to clarify some information. The time scheduled was adequate to provide me enough information. Two of the participants were very reluctant but managed to finish the interview. Four of the 16 selected participants opted out of interviews.

#### **Data Analysis**

In this qualitative case study, I collected program information containing types of safe parking pilot programs and their sites. The documents also included all the stakeholders in the program and the locations of the sites they managed. Data collected contained the names of program coordinators from the faith-based organization, the names of the city's program managers and police officers, and the number of participants in each site. The data also explained the initial requirements from the City Council before they approved the safe parking program.

The documents reviewed allowed me to know the key stakeholders. I was able to determine the important stakeholders for the interview, the location of their sites, and the rules and regulations on the sites. Using NVivo software (Version 12), I performed a content analysis of the documents to find the types of safe parking pilot programs and the number of participants in each site. I identified the patterns and frequencies of phrases

occurring in the documents reviewed. Using the patterns, frequencies, and words in the documents helped me determine the theme in the reviewed documents. Unfortunately, this was time-consuming. Thematic analysis was used to analyze the semistructured interview conducted with the critical stakeholders to develop a theme and pattern in the answers provided by interview participants. A combination of inductive and deductive analysis was used in labeling the data. The result of the interview was transcribed and coded using NVivo software.

#### **Data Protection**

The Walden University Institutional Review Board (IRB) practices for participant protection was designed to safeguard the identity, responses, and data collection throughout this research. The data were screened, typed, and saved in Microsoft, secured with password protection in a flash drive. Semistructured interviews were conducted, face -to-face except in two occasions when scheduling was difficult phone interview was used. Protective mask was used during face-to-face interview. All information was secured on a password-protected flash drive and coded to ensure the security of all the participants.

#### Incentives

This study was entirely voluntary. Everyone's decisions were respected whether or not they chose to be in the study. However, the benefits of the study allowed participants to voice their thoughts and perceptions regarding the safe parking program. The study aimed to provide research and recommendations on how the safe parking program can improve to serve the needs of community members sheltering in the

vehicles. There were no formal incentives for the participants because they have two options for the interviews. They have choice of face to face or phone interview.

# **Consent Process Agreement**

Upon the approval and permission to proceed to the final study by Institutional Review Board (IRB), a detailed and thorough explanation of the data collection process and consent form were sent to participants for their acceptance and return, indicating their intention to participate. The Walden University IRB approval number is "08-16-22-1038415" for this study. Participation was voluntary with termination clause and confidentiality agreement was also secured.

## **Semistructured Interview Privacy**

A common approach in qualitative research is the semistructured interview, were core elements of the phenomenon being studies are explicitly asked about by the interviewer (Barrett & Twycross, 2018, p. 63). As indicated by Barrett and Twycross, a well-designed semistructured interview captures key areas while still flexibility for participants to bring their own personality and perspective to the discussion. The semistructured interviews were an effective method for data collection because I wanted to collect qualitative or open-ended data to explore participant's thoughts, feelings, and perceptions about a particular topic or program. This format allowed more context and understanding of the situation that helped me understand why a practice works well (Doody & Noonan, 2013; Doringer,2020). Semistructured interviews were held face to face or by phone at approximately 7 p.m. to ensure punctuality and consistency. The interview was one on one in a secluded room. The participant was informed when the

recording started and end. The participants used nick names or names that masked their real names. Confidentiality was strictly maintained.

There were measures for the participant to choose to withdraw from the interview process for personal reasons. There was a verbal and written form to honor such requests. To ensure this study's validity, the data from all the stakeholders were essential for a successful study. However, individuals could be excused at any time without negatively affecting the study.

City approved my study via a signed agreement. As a requirement, all guidelines regarding my study followed the Walden IRB process. My study was approved by my committee and the city. The city agreed to work with me, a student researcher at Walden University, to evaluate the Safe Parking Pilot Program the city coordinates. The program was developed to provide sheltering places to allow community members to transition into housing from living in their vehicles. The participants were adults 18 years and above. The participants were single adults and couples seeking safety and consistency, the seniors who cannot afford to rent, adults working to increase their income to make rent, and women fleeing domestic violence (Internal City Record).

### **Semistructured Interviews**

The semistructured interviews were conducted with an open framework, allowing focused, conversational, and two-way communication. The participants selected for the interviews process came from stakeholders of the city found from internal data. The questions focused on the success measures of a safe parking program. Initially face to

face interview was planned, but some participants requested phone interviews. Data collected were safeguarded with a password protected in the flash drive.

The initial consent for this study was granted from the city and my Walden committee members. The semistructured interview was designed to ensure the integrity of the research questions, effective and consistent communication, and transparency among the committee members and all the participants. The semistructured interview combined the element of structured and unstructured interviews and allowed advantages of comparable, reliable data and flexibility to ask follow-up questions. Semistructured interview also ensured the integrity of the research questions, effective and consistent communication, and transparency among the committee members and all the participants

The following steps were conducted to ensure the integrity of evidence:

- An invitation was sent to all participants individually through email to protect their privacy.
- 2. The detailed instructions were provided to all the participants, including time, date, and topic. Participants had the opportunity to express their thoughts and perceptions about the organization.
- 3. The agenda was distributed to all the participants regarding the event's planning.
- 4. There was a thematic framework beforehand to keep both the interviewer and participants on task, avoiding distractions while encouraging two-way communications.

5. The semistructured interview introduced details and richness due to their more open-ended nature. Participants were informed beforehand that they might be asked to clarify, elaborate, or rephrase their answers if necessary.

The semistructured interview questions for the study are as follows:

- 1. If you know them, what current benchmarks and metrics are used to measure the success of safe parking program?
- 2. Do you have means to determine the short and long-term of success of the program?
- 3. What types of services do safe parking programs provide to unhouse individuals to move them to stable housing successfully?
- 4. How does the safe parking program fit in with other homeless services in your community?
- 5. Can you describe any specific benchmark your program must meet to maintain funding?
- 6. Have there been any security incidents or complaints from parkers staying at the safe parking program site?
- 7. What are the safe parking program's most significant challenges from your perspective?
- 8. How has the program been perceived by the community?
- 9. Has there been any community opposition and or / community support?

# **Summary**

Section 3 discussed the lack of clear understanding of the benchmarks and metrics for measuring success in the safe parking program as the problem Tri-City faced. The section also restated the purpose of the study and the source of evidence for the study. Practical-focused questions needed to be introduced to address the problem faced by the city. The NVivo qualitative data analysis software was used to document, transcribe, code, and analyze the data collected through semistructured interviews. The data collection followed the guidelines and policies sustained by Walden University.

### Section 4: Data Evaluation and Recommendation

The purpose of this qualitative study, as described in previous sections, was to explore the attitudes of stakeholders on how they measure success in safe parking program in other to provide policy recommendations to the city on how a safe parking program can provide a safe parking environment as well as supportive services to the homeless community that lives in their vehicles without causing negative issues to the host community. The safe parking pilot program was a new program introduced by the city to manage the growing problem of unhoused vehicle dwellers, but there was a lack of benchmarks and metrics to measure success because of the limited literature on the safe parking program. Thus, the problem I sought to address in this study was the lack of clear understanding of what benchmark and metrics the stakeholders will use to measure success in the safe parking pilot program administered by stakeholders and coordinated by the city.

The city had three types of safe parking programs in four locations. The faith-based organizations that operate these programs are managed by program managers at the city human resources department. The evidence for this project came from semistructured interviews conducted with 12 stakeholders working and managing the program. I collected the program coordinators' names and each site's location from program managers in the city. I had planned to interview up to 16 stakeholders for this project. Four people opted out, and 12 stakeholders agreed to the interview. Stakeholders have diverse expectations and perceptions of what success was expected to look like. The reduction of the number of interviewees from 16 to 12 did not have any material impact

on the results because the city had only four sites operated by five program coordinators and managed by program managers. Therefore, 12 interviewees were enough to reach a saturation point. I interviewed five people from host sites, five from the city, and two police officers who oversaw the project's security. The city managers and police officers seemed highly enthusiastic and excited to participate in the interview process. The big boss and the overall city manager were amiable and told me to contact them for any questions or clarification. At the same time, the coordinators from host sites were less enthusiastic. Scheduling them for interviews was challenging. However, two host site coordinators provided valuable data for my study.

Data were collected through semistructured interview questions conducted face to face, using a protective mask, and phone when possible. The collected voice data was recorded and stored in a password-protected voice recorder. The data were then imported into NVivo software for analysis, coding, and classification until a thematic form was obtained.

The face-to-face semistructured interview allowed for more context and understanding of stakeholder thinking as they operate the program. I used nine semistructured interview questions to give each stakeholder opportunities to air their understanding of each of the nine questions designed to explore their attitude on how success can be measured. Each stakeholder was asked the same questions and allowed to expand on each question as they saw fit. The findings were analyzed, and several themes emerged.

## **Emergent Themes**

As I analyzed the data collected from the interviews, several themes became evident. None of the stakeholders had predetermined benchmarks to measure the success of the safe parking pilot program. They all valued volunteerism and increased participation of faith-based volunteers and parkers. Program coordinators, law enforcement officers, and city program managers all emphasized the importance of program utilization and connection of parkers to supportive services to prepare them for transition to stable housing. Another theme evidenced in the data was the hospitality of coordinators and the safety of parkers and the neighboring community hosting them to minimize the impact of negative perceptions of the program. Program managers at the city also emphasized parkers' needs assessment to connect parkers to city and county support services to move them to affordable housing quickly. One of the essential themes in the mind of program managers at the city of Northern California was an increase in the awareness of the safe parking program and the supporting service to all homeless people living in encampments with the hope that it will help in the depopulation of homeless encampments. The findings are organized according to the semistructured questions below

# **Findings and Implications**

The first question I posed to all the stakeholders was what determined the benchmarks and metrics they used to measure success in the program. Their answers were as wide as their interest in the program. Police officers were clear in their unstated benchmarks. Their interest was public safety and program utilization. One office

explained, "The benchmarks we are looking at, especially through the public safety lens," are "crime reports in the participating sites, and then surrounding neighborhoods." He also had program utilization and a positive impact on the community very high on his mind. Program coordinators from faith-based organizations shared police officers' interest in program utilization and a positive impact on the community. However, they emphasized "volunteerism and hospitality" as the most crucial measure of success. "To the extent our volunteers feel like they are playing a meaningful role in helping unhoused people have a meaningful life, it will be good for the participants and our congregation." The program managers at the city have similar but slightly different interests with the police officers and program coordinators at the faith-based organization. They believed program utilization and growth were essential, but their ultimate goal was to move unhoused vehicle dwellers to more stable housing. To get that accomplished, they needed more participants in the program and more faith-based organizations to participate in the program. One program manager remarked, "We think that the program's success" depends on "if we are getting more people into the program, and we are helping them through their difficult period, that is a success," and the long term would be connecting people with something more stable.

The success of the safe parking program would be in the city's ability to manage the stakeholders' competing interests (Mitchell et al., 1992). The interest of police officers, program coordinators, city managers, and the neighborhood where sites were located should be addressed by the city, and so is the interest of parkers. Vehicle dwellers face unique social and economic challenges different from chronically homeless

individuals living outdoors (McElwain et al., 2021). These competing interests were more evident in their answers to the second semistructured question.

When stakeholders were asked about their short-term and long-term determinants of success in the program, the city managers listed utilization of the program measured by the number of participants and awareness of the program at other homeless encampments as a short-term goal. As one city manager put it, "We want folks to know about it. If it is not being utilized, we want people at homeless encampments to be aware of the program." Program managers at the city also indicated that one of their short-term goals is getting people into 6 months rotational program and maintaining "our faith-based partnerships to continue to provide host site location." The long-term determinant of success for city managers was more toward participant outcomes. "So, people being connected to public benefits, housing, medical care, those are things that we would like to see this program evolve into and go beyond creating partnerships and go deeper into service," one of the city managers said.

When the same question was posed to faith-based program coordinators, they listed several benchmarks. "The ultimate one is getting participants connected to resources they may need that help to stabilize their lives." "The short-term objective is to try to get people who are homeless to get them reconnected to community and a sense of community." Churches are essential in offering participants a welcoming and supportive environment to give them a sense of belonging. That allowed the parkers "to get a good night's sleep and not be sleeping with one eye open in an unsafe situation." "We want people to know that the program exists so that when they are ready, they can look for the

program," explained one of the respondents. The city's job here was to merge all these interests to give the program a good chance of success. The interest of all stakeholders must be addressed (Mitchell et al., 1992) and Clarkson (1995).

One of the long-term goals common to all stakeholders is the ability to maximize the utilization of every site. Every site is designed to have a maximum of 15 vehicles. Research indicated that stakeholders would like to scale up the number of participants in each site to the maximum number of vehicles allowed. Some stakeholders would like the city to purchase or take up a lease on more oversized parking lots used for the safe parking program. Each participant needs to be assigned to a case manager who will be responsible for their care until they can be housed.

When stakeholders were asked what type of services the safe parking pilot program provided unhoused individuals to move them into stable housing successfully, their answers showed competing interests among the stakeholders. The city managers' interests were broad compared to program coordinators at faith-based organizations. The city managers believed that since the long-term goal of the safe parking pilot program is to move participants out of homelessness into housing, the best way to accomplish that is to provide wraparound services to participants to help prepare them for permanent or temporary housing. Connecting participants with social workers and the Human Service Department at the city to direct them to the city and other county programs were high on the city managers' list. Social workers provide them with need assessment, one city manager explained, "so that we can identify some options for them on how they can get connected to benefits so that when housing opportunity comes up," it will be affordable.

"Getting documentation in place has become a critical aspect of the program" (e.g., driver's license, registration, and insurance). Social workers and clinicians assigned to them provide them with family resources needed to connect them where they can get coordinated entry assessment and resources to prepare them for permanent housing. The one-stop shop will help stabilize their lives and provide them with a supportive environment that will allow them to get a good night's sleep as they work out of homelessness. The safe parking program complements other homeless programs offered by the city to help move the unhoused individual into temporary or permanent housing. This is a vehicle-based version of the homeless shelter. It is a crisis response to unhoused vehicular dwellers to give them access to a verse network of services provided to other unhoused communities. It fits well with other homeless programs because it provides unhoused vehicle dwellers the opportunity to stay safe in their cars at night and access programs that help move them out of homelessness into housing. Program coordinators at faith-based organizations' answers to the services the safe parking pilot program provides to parkers to help move them to stable housing successfully were essential services. One program coordinator summed up their goal: "Well, ideally, a safe parking program has services that meet the participants' basic needs." Faith-based organizations were primarily interested in providing basic day-to-day needs.

Question 5 asked stakeholders to describe any benchmarks the program must meet to maintain funding. All those interviewed indicated that the only benchmark the city council required from the program managers to maintain funding is that the participants in the program must keep their car registration and car insurance current.

"We made certain promises to our city council to authorize the program. They wanted to make sure that people were licensed. So, we are working on ensuring those things are in place." Their cars must be motorable so the participants can move out of the parking lot during the day and return at night. The requirement that participants vehicles stay operational and have current registration and insurance so that they can drive their cars in and out of safe parking place. One program coordinator maintained "is becoming a drain on the vehicle and finances of participant that does not have a job."

Regarding the biggest challenges facing the safe parking program, city managers acknowledged that focusing on operatable passenger vehicles was a challenge. "People have to leave every day or go to a different site every month. "That can be a drain on the vehicle and on funds to cover fuel," maintained one of the city managers.

# **Interpretation of Findings**

Data collected throughout the interview indicated that Safe Parking Pilot Program was a crisis response to the growth in unhoused vehicle dwellers throughout the city to give the participants a place to sleep safely at night and to connect them during the day to a diverse network of programs available to help move unhoused individuals to temporary or permanent housing. The research showed that the stakeholders who run the program did not clearly understand the benchmarks and metrics to measure success in the program because the literature is limited.

The interview results showed that while the safe parking program is a new introduction to the variety of programs case managers use in managing homeless crises, the outcome is still geared toward moving unhoused vehicles dwellers out of their

vehicles to temporary or permanent housing. The result showed that though there were no stated benchmarks and metrics initially for measuring success in the program, each stakeholder has unstated metrics for measuring success. These metrics include site utilization, increased participation by faith-based organizations, and, most importantly, moving unhoused vehicle dwellers out of their vehicles to temporary or permanent housing.

### Limitations

One of the unanticipated limitations of this study was the impact of COVID-19 on interview scheduling. Initially, the stakeholders were reluctant to schedule an interview. After several attempts, the issue was resolved. I lost 2 weeks, and two stakeholders refused to be interviewed. Another unexpected problem was learning the NVivo software used to code and analyze the data. Learning to code, categorize, and analyze the data took much time.

The study is limited to four safe parking pilot programs maintained by the city.

The pilot program has existed for less than one year since January 1, 2022. The semistructured interview with 12 stakeholders with limited knowledge of the safe parking program may not provide complete information to be used elsewhere outside the city. However, the data collected reflected the attitude of the program's stakeholders. Twelve participants in the interview reflect most of the program coordinators and program managers that run the entire program.

# **Implications Resulting from the Findings**

Stabilizing and rehousing individuals experiencing homelessness is the goal of any program established to service the homeless population. The success of the city's safe parking pilot programs depends on how the city engages and manages the interests of all the stakeholders involved in the program. Research shows that faith-based program coordinators' interests are very narrow- geared toward the basic needs of parkers. In contrast, the interest of city managers is broad, geared toward the overall interest of all the city residents. The interests of parkers and neighboring communities are also different. The program managers' interest in the host site was always on the participants. "Are they getting their needs met by us as much as we can?" "And are they happy at the end of the month?" asked one of the program coordinators at the faith-based organization. While the consensus of the city managers was, "are we moving people off the street into affordable housing" thereby making the city parks and streets free of homelessness for everyone to enjoy.

Therefore, the effectiveness of this program depends on how the city manages all the stakeholders' interests (Ipos Mori, 2009). "The community and stakeholder context for safe parking programs can shut or help them flourish" (McElwain et al., 2021). The city should have essential benchmarks and metrics agreed upon by all the stakeholders to evaluate the program's success. This study highlights the attitude of stakeholders on essential benchmarks and metrics needed to evaluate the safe parking program.

McElwain et al. (2021) maintained that directing the focus and conduct of program managers in performing self-evaluation to determine if they are on track toward

achieving safe parking pilot goals. This study suggests that the city and other stakeholders operating safe parking programs integrate social services that will help refer parkers to all programs that can connect them with their immediate needs. Strong relationships and early involvement with law enforcement could also help minimize negative impacts within the neighboring communities. In their work, McElwain et al. (2021) suggested that personal relationship with social services and law enforcement was foundational in recruiting, improving safety, and minimizing the negative impact on the community. Police officers will more likely refer unhoused vehicle dwellers to safe parking programs than issue citations. Management of stakeholders' interests will help minimize the challenges in the program.

The city's interest is ensuring all the applicants are screened to make sure participant has current insurance, registration, and motorable car and are not registered as sex offender conflict with the interest of a faith-based organization whose interest is always to register and service everyone that comes into their site. The services provided by the city to safe parking program were comprehensive, but they must meet stringent requirements. This requirement created financial hardship for parkers. The churches offered maintenance checks and cash to parkers to helped in keeping their cars motorable and their licenses and registration current. These challenges could be minimized if all stakeholders knew and standardized proper benchmarks and metrics to guide the program. Bryson (2011) indicated that benchmarks are important mechanism to help safe parking programs direct their focus and conduct self-evaluation to determine if they are on track toward achieving goal. According to the author, without benchmarking and

specific measures for success, safe parking program will have difficulty determining what resources and input to contribute achieving better for parkers and other resources for program displayed in the logical model. Other source added that benchmarks identified can be standardized to improve rehousing rate. The potential implication of positive change in the homeless management and safe parking program could be significant, especial for the city in Northern California.

#### Recommendations

The safe parking program is a subset of the programs used by the city to address challenges faced by unhoused vehicle dwellers and individuals living in homeless shelters and encampments. Therefore, city managers and other stakeholders running the program need to be clear on the benchmarks and metrics they will use to evaluate its success. Currently, program coordinators from the faith-based organization and program managers and police officers in the city have different unstated benchmarks to measure their success in the program. There should be standardized metrics known and used by each stakeholder to evaluate the program's overall success.

Most of the benchmarks the faith-based organization uses are usually geared toward volunteerism and hospitality provided to participants. Their interests are mostly geared toward participants' comfort and well-being. They want the program to grow so that more people can be taken out of homeless encampments and out of the street to a safe place where they can manage their life better. Police officers' interest is primarily in public safety. They want parkers and their neighbors to live in peace and safety. While the program managers at the city may want the same metrics program coordinators and

police officers want, their overall interest is to manage competing community interests while addressing the crisis created by the growth of unhoused vehicle dwellers that is creating the issue in the city streets and parks. Therefore, the metrics they use must address the overall homeless issues while maintaining the requirements set by the city council when they authorized the safe parking program.

The council required every participant to maintain current car registration, driver's license, and insurance before they are allowed into the program. Program managers' unstated metrics to measure the success of the safe parking program are reducing the population of unhoused vehicle dwellers and reducing homelessness in the city. To accomplish this, they need more volunteers from faith-based organizations and other organizations that can offer their space for the program. Since stabilizing and rehousing unhoused vehicle dwellers is the program's ultimate goal, the city of Northern California should have standardized benchmarks that every safe parking site must use to measure the rehousing rate at each safe parking place. This will help set up a mechanism to direct their focus on self-evaluation.

## Summary

Data collected through semistructured interviews showed that though the city does not currently have official benchmarks and metrics the stakeholders can use to measure the success of the safe parking pilot program, they nevertheless have unofficial metrics they use as they operate the program. For the program to be successful, the safe parking pilot program must be able to help unhoused vehicle dwellers find a safe place to park their cars and sleep safely as they connect themselves to the network of services

provided by the city to help transition unhoused vehicles dwellers to temporally or permanent housing. Since stabilizing and rehousing unhoused vehicle dwellers is the ultimate goal of a safe parking pilot program, the city should have standardized benchmarks and metrics every stakeholder can use to measure the rehousing rate to determine the effectiveness and efficiency of the program. Standardizing metrics will help set up a mechanism to direct stakeholders' focus on self-evaluation for program improvement. In the following section, I discuss how the deliverable would be provided to city managers and other interviewees in the executive summary.

### Section 5: Dissemination Plan

In this study, I interviewed stakeholders who coordinated and managed the safe parking pilot program in the city of Northern California to explore their attitudes on what metrics they use in measuring the success of the safe parking program. The responses from the semistructured interview data provided guidance and recommendations that city officials and stakeholders should follow to create policies, procedures, and guidelines on the benchmarks and metrics needed by all the stakeholders to measure success in the safe parking pilot program. The policies, procedures, and guidelines developed from the recommendations will keep stakeholders regularly informed and can increase transparency and clarify the safe parking program intention during evaluation. The guidelines developed from the recommendation will help strengthen the relationship between all stakeholders and the community where the parkers reside. It will help the program flourish if the city develops measurable benchmarks showing rehousing rates, length of stay, and service engagement with participants and all the stakeholders.

With the results of this study, I would like to create an executive summary in line with the Walden professional administrative study checklist. The executive summary will summarize the standard benchmarks needed to improve the effectiveness and efficiency of safe parking programs to help the city focus on essential metrics that will improve the program's overall success. All the program managers, city managers, host site coordination, and police officers interviewed are entitled to receive a copy of the executive summary. The executive summary will be delivered to each stakeholder interviewed at their site or office.

### Conclusion

This study addressed the safe parking pilot program started by the city in January of 2022, to address the explosion of homelessness in the city caused by the increase in the population of unhoused vehicle dwellers staying in city streets and public parks. The program was a collaborative effort between the city, community partners, and various faith-based organizations to address the increase in unhoused vehicular homelessness. It provides a foundational community where unhoused vehicular dwellers can receive helpful resources from the homeless services network, law enforcement outreach to case management engagement to prepare them for temporary to permanent housing. This temporary crisis management program complements other homeless programs and addresses the overall homelessness issue in the city.

The program coordinators are the faith-based leaders who volunteer to run the program. They are essential stakeholders in the program. Their job is needed to provide the basic needs of the parkers. For the program to work, city managers should listen and attend to their interests and needs. The program managers play important roles as advocates, partners, and change agents. They work in a complex environment, deal with various audiences, and serve as the city's eyes to the program. They are responsible for incorporating the safe parking pilot program with other homeless services to reduce overall homelessness in the city. At the same time, law enforcement officers are very important stakeholders in the program. They serve the city and neighboring communities by monitoring the safety of everyone involved. Since the parkers are primarily young adults with families, who have lost their housing due to unfortunate reasons, the city must

have reasonable benchmarks to make sure they are serving the right population and are giving them services to move them from safe parking to permanent housing.

Standardized benchmarks and metrics will help the city monitor the progress of the safe parking pilot program and help them self-evaluate and assess the program. If successfully implemented, the study can help reduce homelessness in the city and produce a social change in the homeless population.

#### References

- American Psychological Association. (2020). *Publication manual of the American Psychological Association* (7th ed.). https://doi.org/10.1037/0000165-000
- Alameda County. (2019). *Homeless count & survey comprehensive report 2019*.

  Everyone Home. <a href="https://everyonehome.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/02/2017-Alameda-County8.1-2.pdf">https://everyonehome.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/02/2017-Alameda-County8.1-2.pdf</a>
- Bardach, E., & Patashnik, E. (2016). A practical guide for policy analysis: The eightfold path to more effective problem solving (5th ed.). CQ Press.
- Barile, J. P., Pruitt, A. S., & Parker, J. L. (2018). A latent class analysis of self□identified reasons for experiencing homelessness: Opportunities for prevention. *Journal of Community & Applied Social Psychology*, 28(2), 94–107.
  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1002/casp.2343">https://doi.org/10.1002/casp.2343</a>
- Bill Text AB-891 Public property: Safe Parking Program. (2019).

  <a href="https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billTextClient.xhtml?bill\_id=201920200A">https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billTextClient.xhtml?bill\_id=201920200A</a>

  B891
- Barret, D., & Twycross, A. (2018). Data collection in qualitative research. *Evidence Based Nursing*, 21(3), 63-64. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1136/eb.2018.102939">https://doi.org/10.1136/eb.2018.102939</a>
- Bryson, J. (2004). What to do when stakeholders matter. *Public Management Review*, 6(1), 21–53. https://doi.org/10.1080/14719030410001675722
- Bryson, J. M. (2011). Strategic planning for public and nonprofit organizations: A guide to strengthening and sustaining organizational achievement (4th ed.).
- Buchholz, R. A., & Rosenthal, S. B. (2005). Toward a contemporary conceptual

- framework for stakeholder theory. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *58*, 137-148. https://doi.org/10.1007./s10551-005-1393-8
- Burkholder, G. J., Cox, K. A., Crawford, L. M., & Hitchcock, J. H. (Eds.). (2020).

  \*Research designs and methods: An applied guide for the scholar-practitioner.

  Sage.
- City of Fremont. (2022, January 31). Safe parking program host site pilot program. A safe transitional space for residents experiencing vehicular homelessness to park overnight. <a href="https://www.fremont.gov/documentcenter/view/49988/safe-parking-host-site-pilot-program">https://www.fremont.gov/documentcenter/view/49988/safe-parking-host-site-pilot-program</a>.
- Crawford (Eds.), *The scholar-practitioner's guide to research design* (pp. 203–214).

  Laureate Publishing
- Dawidowicz, P. (2016). Phenomenology. In G. J. Burkholder, K. A. Cox, & L. M..
- Denver County. (2020). *Everyone counts point in time count*.

  <a href="https://d3n8a8pro7vhmx.cloudfront.net/mdhi/pages/2603/attachments/original/15">https://d3n8a8pro7vhmx.cloudfront.net/mdhi/pages/2603/attachments/original/15</a>
  955272 91/denver-county-2020-pit.pdf?1595527291
- Doody, O., & Noonan, M. (2013). Preparing and conducting interviews to collect data.

  Nurse Researcher, 20(5), 28-32. <a href="https://doi.org/10.7748/nr2013.05.20.5.28.e327">https://doi.org/10.7748/nr2013.05.20.5.28.e327</a>
- Fowler, P. J., Hovmand, P. S., Marcal, K. E., & Das, S. (2019). Solving homelessness from a complex systems perspective: Insights for prevention responses. *Annual Review of Public Health*, 40(1), 465–486. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-publhealth-040617-013553">https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-publhealth-040617-013553</a>
- Freeman, R. E. (1984) Strategic management: A stakeholder approach. Pitman.

- Gawthrop, L. C. (2005). Public administration in a global model: With sympathy and compassion. *Public Integrity*, 7(3), 241-259.
- Gibson, T. A. (2005). NIMBY and the civic good. *City & Community*, *4*(4), 381-401. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-6040.2005.00144.x
- Hanson, R. L., & Hartman, J. T. (1994). *Do welfare magnets attract?* (Discussion Paper no. 1028-94). Institute for Research on Poverty.
- Harvard Joint Center for Housing Studies. (2020). *The state of the nation's housing 2020*. Harvard University.
- Hill, C. J., & Lynn, L. E. (2016). *Public management: Thinking and acting in three dimensions*. CQ Press.
- Homelessness Policy Research Institute. (2018). *Safe parking programs*.

  <a href="https://socialinnovation.usc.edu/homeless\_research/safe-parking-programs/">https://socialinnovation.usc.edu/homeless\_research/safe-parking-programs/</a>
- Goodpaster, K. E. (1991). Business ethics and stakeholder analysis. *Business Ethics Quarterly 1*, 53-73. https://doi.org/10.2307/3857592
- Ipsos MORI. (2009). Understanding your stakeholders: A best practice guide for the public sector.
- Ivey, T. R., Gilleland, J., & Rankin, S. (2018). Hidden in plain sight: Finding safe parking for vehicle residents (SSRN Scholarly Paper ID 3173221). Social Science Research Network. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3173221
- Jarpe, M., Mosley, J., & Smith, B. (2019). Understanding the collaborative planning process in homeless services: Networking, advocacy, and local government support may reduce service gaps. *Journal of Public Health Management and*

- Practice, 25(3), 262–269. https://doi.org/10.1097/PHH.000000000000012
- Kenrick, D. T., Griskevicius, V., Neuberg, S. L., & Schaller, M. (2010). Renovating the pyramid of needs: Contemporary extensions built upon ancient foundations.
  Perspectives on Psychological Science, 5(3), 292–314.
  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/1745691610369469">https://doi.org/10.1177/1745691610369469</a>
- Jansen, L., & Tauber, R. (2017). *Safe parking program manual*. New Beginnings Counseling Center.
- Kryda, A. D., & Compton, M. T. (2009). Mistrust of outreach workers and lack of confidence in available services among individuals who are chronically street homeless. *Community Mental Health Journal*, *45*, 144-150.
- Lane County. (2020). *Point-in-time (PIT) homeless count*. Retrieved March 14, 2021, from <a href="https://lanecounty.org/government/county\_departments/health\_and\_human\_services/human\_services\_division/point-in-time\_pit\_homeless\_count">https://lanecounty.org/government/county\_departments/health\_and\_human\_services/human\_services\_division/point-in-time\_pit\_homeless\_count\_
- Lee, B. A., Tyler, K. A., & Wright, J. D. (2010). The new homelessness revisited. *Annual Review of Sociology*, 36(1), 501–521. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-soc-070308-115940">https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-soc-070308-115940</a>
- Lee, W., & Plitt Donaldson, L. (2018). Street outreach workers' understanding and experience of working with chronically homeless populations. *Journal of Poverty*, 22(5), 421-436. https://doi.org/10.1080/10875549.2018.1460737
- Lucas, D. S. (2017). The impact of federal homelessness funding on homelessness. Southern Economic Journal, 84(2), 548-576.
- Main, T. (1998). How to think about homelessness: Balancing structural and individual

- causes. Journal of Social Distress and Homelessness, 7(1), 41–54. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1022966631533
- Marielli, A. (2010). Conducting interviews. In Pulliam Phillips, P., ASTD handbook for measuring and evaluating training (pp. 85-96). ASTD Press.
- McElwain, L., Schiele, D., & Waheed, L. (2021). Smart practices for safe parking: A nationwide review of safe parking programs for people sheltering in vehicles.

  University of Southern California.
- Milanesi, L. (2016). Program evaluation. In G. J. Burkholder, K. A. Cox, & L. M. Crawford (Eds), The scholar-practitioner's guide to research design (pp. 260–280). Laureate Publishing.
- Miles, M. B., & Hubermand, M. (1984). Cross-case displays: Exploring and describing (PDF). In Qualitative Data Analysis: A Sourcebook of New Methods (pp. 172–182). SAGE Publications.
- Millar, A., Simeone, R., & Carnevale, J. (2001). Logic models: a systems tool for performance management. Evaluation and Program Planning, 24(1), 73–81. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0149-7189(00)00048-3
- Miller, D. C. & Salkind, N. J. (2002). Guides for selection and use of personal interviews as utilized in field research. In Handbook of research and design and social measurement (pp. 309-319). Sage.
- Mitchell, D. (1997). The annihilation of space by law: The roots and implications of antihomeless laws in the United States. Antipode, 29(3), 303-335.
- Mitchell, R. K., Agle, B. R., & Wood, D. J. (1997). Toward a theory of stakeholder

- identification and science: Defining the principle of who and what really counts. *The Academy of Management Review, 22*, 853-886.
- National Alliance to End Homelessness. (2016). Rapid rehousing performance benchmarks and standards. <a href="https://endhomelessness.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/02/PerformanceBenchmarks-and-Program-Standards.pdf">https://endhomelessness.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/02/PerformanceBenchmarks-and-Program-Standards.pdf</a>
- National Alliance to End Homelessness. (n.d.). Keys to effective low barrier shelter [Webinar PowerPoint]. 40 National Law Center on Homelessness & Poverty [NLCHP]. (2019). Housing not handcuffs: Ending the criminalization of homelessness in US cities.

National Law Center on Homelessness & Poverty. <a href="https://nlchp.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/12/HOUSINGNOT-HANDCUFFS-2019-FINAL.pdf">https://nlchp.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/12/HOUSINGNOT-HANDCUFFS-2019-FINAL.pdf</a>

Office of Research and Doctoral Services. (2015a, August 13). Overview of qualitative research methods [Video]. YouTube.

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=IsAUNsIoSQ&feature=youtu.be
Orange County. (2019). Everyone counts 2019 point in time.

http://ochmis.org/wpcontent/uploads/2019/08/2019-PIT-FINAL-REPORT-

# 7.30.2019.pd

- Padgett, D., Henwood, B., & Tsemberis, S. (2016). Housing first: Ending homelessness, transforming systems, and changing lives. Oxford University Press.

  <a href="http://web.a.ebscohost.com.libproxy1.usc.edu/ehost/ebookviewer/ebook?sid=cb9">http://web.a.ebscohost.com.libproxy1.usc.edu/ehost/ebookviewer/ebook?sid=cb9</a>

  <a href="mailto:79aafabc2-4702-87f0-aae474865bd0%40sessionmgr4007&vid=0&format=EB">79aafabc2-4702-87f0-aae474865bd0%40sessionmgr4007&vid=0&format=EB</a>
- Parker, C. A. (2019). Homeless Negotiations of Public Space in Two California Cities

- [Ph.D., University of California, Davis].

  <a href="http://search.proquest.com/docview/2299780143/abstract/72E5035E197C4AA2P">http://search.proquest.com/docview/2299780143/abstract/72E5035E197C4AA2P</a>

  Q/1
- Radey, M., & Wilkins, B. (2010). Short-term employment services for homeless individuals: Perception from stakeholders in community partnership. (pp. 19-33), <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/01488376.2011.524513">https://doi.org/10.1080/01488376.2011.524513</a>
- Rittel, H. W. J. & Webber, M. W. (1973). Dilemmas in a general theory of planning. Policy Sciences, 4, 155–169.
- Rohleder, P., & Lyons, A. C. (2017). *Qualitative research in clinical and health psychology*. Bloomsbury.
- Rose, M., & Baumgartner, F. R. (2013). Framing the poor: Media coverage and U.S. poverty policy. Policy Studies Journal, 41(1), 22–53. https://doi.org/10.1111/psj.12001/
- Rosenthal, R., & Foscarinis, M. (2006). Responses to homelessness: Past policies, future directions, and a right to housing. In R. Bratt, M. Stone, & C. Hartman (Eds.), *A right to housing: Foundation for a new social agenda* (pp. 316-339). Temple University Press.
- Santa Barbara New Beginnings Counseling Center. (2018). Safe parking program. https://sbnbcc.org/safe-parking/
- Schoch, K. (2016). Case study research. In G. J. Burkholder, K. A. Cox, & L. M. Crawford (Eds.), The scholar-practitioner's guide to research design (pp. 215–226). Laureate Publishing.

- United States Census Bureau. (2019a). Population Estimates, July 1, 2019 (V2019) -Green Bay city, Wisconsin; Oakland city, California; St. Paul city, Minnesota;
  San Luis Obispo County, California; Edmonds city, Washington; Covington city,
  Washington [data table]. Quick Facts. Retrieved from
  https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/fact/table/greenbaycitywisconsin,oaklandcityc
  alifornia,stpaulcityminnesota,sanluisobispocountycalifornia,edmondscitywashingt
  on,covingtoncitywashington/INC110219
- United States Census Bureau (2019b). Population Estimates, July 1, 2019 (V2019) -
  Longmont city, Colorado [data table]. Quick Facts. Retrieved from

  https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/fact/table/longmontcitycolorado/INC110219#I

  NC110 219 41
- United States Census Bureau. (2019d). Population Estimates, July 1, 2019 (V2019) Walnut Creek city, California; Redmond city, Oregon; Kirkland city, Washington;
   Eugene city, Oregon; Alameda County, California; Fullerton city, California [data table]. Quick Facts.

https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/fact/table/walnutcreekcitycalifornia,redmondc ityoregon,kirklandcitywashington,eugenecityoregon,alamedacountycalifornia,full ertoncitycalifor nia/INC110219

United States Census Bureau (2020). City/town population estimates.

 $\underline{https://www.census.gov/programs-surveys/decennial-census/2020-census.html}$ 

United States Department of Housing and Urban Development. (n.d.). HUD's New Rental Affordability Index. PD&R Edge. Retrieved March 27, 2021, from

- https://www.huduser.gov/portal/pdredge/pdr-edge-trending-110716.html
- United States Department of Housing and Urban Development [HUD] Office of Community Planning and Development. (2020). The 2019 annual homeless assessment report (AHAR) to Congress.
- United States Department of Housing and Urban Development [HUD]. (2021).

  Continuum of Care (CoC) Program. HUD Exchange.

  https://www.hudexchange.info/programs/coc/
- United States Interagency Council on Homelessness [USICH]. (2017). The criteria and benchmarks for achieving the goal of ending family homelessness. USICH.

  <a href="https://www.usich.gov/tools-for-action/criteria-and-benchmarks-for-ending-familyhomelessness/">https://www.usich.gov/tools-for-action/criteria-and-benchmarks-for-ending-familyhomelessness/</a>,hhj
- Wakin, M. (2005). Not sheltered, not homeless: RVs as Makeshifts. American Behavioral Scientist, 48(8), 1013–1032. https://doi.org/10.1177/0002764204274197
- Walden University Center for Research Quality. (n.d.-a). Office of student research administration: Professional doctoral programs. Retrieved September 2, 2017, from <a href="http://academicguides.waldenu.edu/researchcenter/osra/professionaldoctoral">http://academicguides.waldenu.edu/researchcenter/osra/professionaldoctoral</a>
- Walden University Library. (n.d.-c). Library guide to capstone literature reviews: Search skills.
  - https://academicguides.waldenu.edu/library/doctoral/literaturereview/searchskills
- Walden University, LLC. (n.d.). All of your research course learning resources in one place. Walden University Blackboard. https://class.walden.edu
- Winter, J. T. (2017). Homeless, neighbors or nuisance? [Master's thesis, San Diego State

University]. ProQuest.

https://www.proquest.com/docview/1957944802/abstract/67323F95EABE419AP

Zeitlin, M. (2019, October 11). Affordable housing is disappearing. So cities are designating parking lots to sleep in. Vox.

https://www.vox.com/thehighlight/2019/10/11/20897485/california-homeless-safe-parking-lots-cars-r

# Appendix: Initial Semi-structured Interview Questions

# Semistructured interview questions as follows:

- If you know them, what current benchmarks and metrics are used to measure the success of safe parking program?
- 2. Do you have means to determine the short and long-term of success of the program?
- 3. What types of services do safe parking programs provide to unhouse individuals to move them to stable housing successfully?
- 4. How does the safe parking program fit in with other homeless services in your community?
- 5. Can you describe any specific benchmark your program must meet to maintain funding?
- 6. Have there been any security incidents or complaints from parkers staying at the safe parking program site?
- 7. What are the safe parking program's most significant challenges from your perspective?
- 8. How has the program been perceived by the community?
- 9. Has there been any community opposition and or / community support?